•

A. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY AND DECISION BELOW 

Petitioner Gary Dale Engelstad, the appellant below, asks this 

Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals opinion affirming his 

convictions, No. 30644-5-III, filed July 24, 2014. An order denying 

reconsideration was entered August 19,2014. The opinion is attached as 

an Appendix. A copy of the appellate docket reflecting the date 

reconsideration was denied is attached as Appendix B. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the failure to give a "no-adverse-inference" instruction 

-the only instruction that informs the jury ofthe accused's privilege 

against self-incrimination - is a structural error. RAP 13 .4(b )(3 ); RAP 

13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

2. In the alternative, where the State's case was highly 

circumstantial and, absent a "no-adverse-inference" instruction, the jury 

was likely to speculate that Engelstad's silence at trial meant he was guilty 

and the State emphasized this inference in closing, counsel's failure to 

request a "no-adverse-inference" instruction was deficient performance 

that prejudiced Engelstad? RAP 13.4(b)(3); RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

3. Whether the Court of Appeals decision rejecting Engelstad's 

contention that counsel's failure to request a "no-adverse-inference" 

instruction denied him his Sixth Amendment right to the effective 
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assistance of counsel, without evaluating the claim in light of the facts of 

the case, is contrary to the decisions of the United States Supreme Court 

and this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(l); RAP 13.4(b)(3); RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On March 17, 2011, Kittitas County law enforcement officers 

investigating a noise complaint in Liberty, off of Highway 97, encountered 

three men in the process of dismantling an old crane on a mining claim off 

the highway. RP 14, 40,43. 1 The officers recognized two ofthe men as 

Joe Shouse and appellant Gary Engelstad; the third man was Paul 

Erickson. RP 23, 163. 

The men were not behaving suspiciously or concealing what they 

were doing, and freely answered questions about their presence on the 

property. RP 33, 49-50. Shouse, who did most of the talking, explained 

to the officers that they were scrapping the crane for a friend, TJ Pecka, 

while Pecka was in prison. RP 23, 43-44. Shouse said that the claim 

belonged to Pecka, and they had Pecka's permission to be there and clean 

the camp area. RP 23. The officers checked the registrations on a couple 

of the motor homes on the claim. They were registered to Debra 

Armfield, who Shouse said was Pecka's mother. RP 24. The officers 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings, containing hearings on multiple dates, is 
contained in two consecutively-paginated volumes of transcripts. They are referenced 
herein as "RP" followed by page number. 
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found Shouse's explanation plausible and left without taking further 

action. RP 50. 

Pecka did have an interest in the claim, as it originally had 

belonged to Pecka's grandfather, who left it for the benefit of all family 

members when he died. RP 100-01, 115, 239. The crane, however, 

belonged to Bruce Bradshaw, who acquired it from his former business 

partner, Richard Miller, in 2007. 1RP 124. Bradshaw owned the 

neighboring claim. RP 74, 108. The boundary lines between the two 

claims would have been difficult for a person unfamiliar with the property 

to determine, but the crane was situated just on the Bradshaw side ofthe 

claim boundary. RP 34, 59, 92. 

When law enforcement officers returned to the property on April 

29, 2011, a rusted fuel tank that had been on the claim was gone. Of the 

crane, only the shell of the cab remained. RP 34, 49. Bradshaw estimated 

the scrap value ofthe crane at $3500. RP 64. Based on these events, the 

Kittitas County prosecutor charged Shouse, Erickson, and Engelstad with 

theft in the second degree and malicious mischief in the second degree. 2 

CP 1-2, 7-9. 

2 Engelstad was also charged with aggravating circumstances based upon 
unscored criminal history, but those are not at issue in this appeal. CP 8-9. 
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Shouse pleaded guilty. RP 227. Erickson entered a deal with the 

State wherein the charges would be dismissed in exchange for his 

testimony. RP 180. Engelstad proceeded to a jury trial. 

At the trial, both Erickson and Shouse testified. Erickson said that 

Shouse hired him as a driver to pick up scrap from Pecka's claim. RP 

163. Shouse gave him the impression that the crane at the claim belonged 

to Pecka or Pecka's grandfather. RP 174. Shouse told him he had 

"papers" for the crane's boom. RP 169. Erickson stated that he relied on 

what Shouse told him and so far as he knew Engelstad did as well. RP 

188. 

Shouse testified that Pecka had asked him to clean up the claim so 

that he would not have problems from his family. RP 211. Shouse also 

testified that Miller gave the crane to him before he died. RP 220. 

Shouse stated that Engelstad was on the property only once, on 

March 17, 2011, when the police saw him there. RP 231. Shouse 

removed the bucket from the crane a month before that day and the bucket 

the day after. RP 218-19. Engelstad was present when the bucket and 

boom were removed. RP 231. Shouse said that Engelstad should not get 

in trouble because he "did nothing wrong." RP 233. 

Bradshaw acknowledged that while Erickson and Pecka both knew 

him and knew that the crane belonged to him, Bradshaw was not 
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acquainted with Engelstad and had "no inkling" whether Engelstad would 

have known about Bradshaw's ownership ofthe crane. RP 130-32, 145. 

Engelstad did not testify at trial. In his closing argument, the 

prosecutor referred to what Engelstad should have done, should have 

asked, or should have believed based upon the circumstances of the 

crane's removal. See RP 280, 290, 293 (arguing whether it was 

"reasonable" for Engelstad to believe that Shouse owned the crane); and 

RP 294 (arguing that Engelstad should have asked Shouse to prove he 

owned the crane). Even though hearings regarding jury instructions 

stretched over two days, no party requested WPIC 6.31,3 which would 

have told the jury that Engelstad was not required to testify and that they 

could draw no adverse inference from the fact that he did not testify, and 

the court did not give the instruction. Engelstad was convicted as charged. 

CP 51,66-81. 

On appeal, Division Three held that the trial court did not have a 

duty to give the instruction sua sponte. And without conducting any 

analysis of the facts whatsoever, the Court held that defense counsel's 

3 WPIC 6.31, titled "Defendant's Failure to Testify", states: 

The defendant is not required to testify. You may not use the fact that 
the defendant has not testified to infer guilt or to prejudice [him} {her} in 
any way. 

WPIC 6.31. 
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failure to request the instruction did not deprive Engelstad of the effective 

assistance of counsel, and adhered to this position following a motion for 

reconsideration. As set forth below, this Court should grant review. 

D. ARGUMENT 

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee an accused 

person the right not to incriminate himself. U.S. Const. amend. V; Const. 

art. I, § 9. The privilege against self-incrimination prohibits the State from 

using a defendant's silence against him at trial. Griffin v. California, 380 

U.S. 609, 615, 85 S.Ct. 1229, 14 L.Ed.2d 106 (1965) ("the Fifth 

Amendment ... forbids either comment by the prosecution on the 

accused's silence or instructions by the court that such silence is evidence 

of guilt"); State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228,236,922 P.2d 1285 (1996). 

The privilege against self-incrimination 

"reflects many of our fundamental values and most noble 
aspirations: our unwillingness to subject those suspected of crime 
to the cruel trilemma of self-accusation, perjury or contempt; ... our 
fear that self-incriminating statements will be elicited by inhumane 
treatment and abuses; our sense of fair play which dictates 'a fair 
state-individual balance by requiring the government ... , in its 
contest with the individual to shoulder the entire load,' ... ; our 
distrust of self-deprecatory statements; and our realization that the 
privilege, while sometimes 'a shelter to the guilty,' is often 'a 
protection to the innocent." 
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Carter v. Kentucky, 450 U.S. 288, 299-300, 101 S.Ct. 1112, 67 L.Ed.2d 

241 (1981) (quoting Murphy v. Waterfront Comm'n, 378 U.S. 52, 55, 84 

S.Ct. 1594, 12 L.Ed.2d 678 (1964) (alterations in original)). 

In Carter, the Supreme Court recognized that an accused person 

may not wish to testify for reasons unrelated to the crime, such as 

nervousness, the fear of impeachment by prior convictions, or the 

reluctance to incriminate others. Carter, 450 U.S. at 300. The Court 

emphasized that these concerns apply to the innocent and the guilty alike. 

Id. Thus, not only is it prohibited to encourage the jury to conclude that 

silence is indicative of guilt, the Fifth Amendment requires the jury be 

instructed that it may draw no adverse inference from the exercise of the 

right not to testify where such an instruction is requested. Id. 

The "salutary purpose of the instruction, 'to remove from the 

jury's deliberations any influence ofunspoken adverse inferences,"' is of 

such importance that it outweighs a 'tactical' decision by the accused or 

his counsel to object to the instruction's issuance. Id. at 301 (quoting 

Lakeside v. Oregon, 435 U.S. 333,340,98 S.Ct. 1091,55 L.Ed.2d 319 

(1978)). In Carter, the Court reaffirmed the rule enunciated in Lakeside, 

and stressed: 

We have repeatedly recognized that "instructing a jury in the basic 
constitutional principles that govern the administration of criminal 
justice," is often necessary. Jurors are not experts in legal 
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principles; to function effectively, and justly, they must be 
accurately instructed in the law. Such instructions are perhaps 
nowhere more important than in the context of the Fifth 
Amendment privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, since 
"[t]oo many, even those who should be better advised, view this 
privilege as a shelter for wrongdoers. They too readily assume that 
those who invoke it are ... guilty of crime .... " 

450 U.S. at 302 (internal citations omitted). 

The Court therefore held that where such an instruction is 

requested, the court is obligated to give it. Id. at 302-03. "No judge can 

prevent jurors from speculating about why a defendant stands mute in the 

face of a criminal accusation, but a judge can, and must, if requested to do 

so, use the unique power of the jury instruction to reduce that speculation 

to a minimum." ld. at 303. 

1. This Court should grant review and hold that a no adverse 
inference instruction is required to protect the accused's 
due process right to a fair trial. 

The Supreme Court recognizes that the privilege against self-

incrimination is as important a constitutional concept as the State's burden 

to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and the presumption of 

innocence. Carter, 450 U.S. at 299-300. Thus, the failure to instruct on 

the privilege is not simply a technical error which does not affect 

substantial rights. Id. at 300 (citation omitted). Rather, the right to an 

instruction on the privilege reflects "the absolute constitutional guarantee 

against compulsory self-incrimination." ld. 
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The Court in Carter stated: "[ e ]ven without adverse comment, the 

members of a jury, unless instructed otherwise, may well draw adverse 

inferences from a defendant's silence." Id. at 301. The Court noted, 

It has been almost universally thought that juries notice a 
defendant's failure to testify. "[T]he jury will, of course, realize this 
quite evident fact, even though the choice goes unmentioned .... [It 
is] a fact inescapably impressed on the jury's consciousness." In 
Lakeside the Court cited an acknowledged authority's statement 
that"' [t]he layman's natural first suggestion would probably be 
that the resort to privilege in each instance is a clear confession of 
crime."' 

I d. at 3 01 n. 18 (citations omitted). 

In Carter, the Supreme Court noted that "it is arguable that a 

refusal to give an instruction similar to the one that was requested here can 

never be harmless." 450 U.S. at 304. The Court, however, expressly 

declined to reach the issue because it had not been presented to the 

Kentucky courts.4 

The Court in Carter declared that a trial court must instruct a jury 

"in the basic constitutional principles that govern the administration of 

criminal justice." 450 U.S. at 302. The Court stressed, 

4 The few federal appeals courts that have considered the issue have applied a 
constitutional harmless error standard. See United States v. Whitten, 610 F.3d 168, 200 
(1st Cir. 2010); United States v. Soto, 519 F.3d 927,930-31 (9th Cir. 2008); accord 
United States v. Padilla, 639 F.3d 892, 897-98 (9th Cir. 2011); United States v. Brand, 80 
F.3d 560, 568 (1st Cir. 1996). These Courts reach this result by placing unwarranted 
emphasis on Carter's narrow holding that a "no-adverse-inference" instruction must be 
given where it is requested. See Soto, 519 F.3d at 930. This emphasis slights the 
constitutional guarantee that an accused person's silence shall not be penalized. 
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Jurors are not experts in legal principles; to function effectively, 
and justly, they must be accurately instructed in the law. Such 
instructions are perhaps nowhere more important than in the 
context of the Fifth Amendment privilege against compulsory 
self-incrimination ... 

I d. (emphasis added). 

The Court compared the "no-adverse-inference" instruction to jury 

instructions on the presumption of innocence, and noted that the "no-

adverse-inference" instruction similarly has a "purging" effect and 

protects "the accused's constitutional right to be judged solely on the basis 

of proof adduced at trial." Carter, 450 U.S. at 302 n. 19 (quoting Taylor v. 

Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 486, 98 S.Ct. 1930, 56 L.Ed.2d 468 (1978)). 

And the Court went a step farther, noting that "the claim is even more 

compelling here than in Taylor, where the dissenting opinion noted that 

'the omission [in Taylor's trial] did not violate a specific constitutional 

guarantee, such as the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination."' 

Carter, 450 U.S. at 302 n. 19 (quoting Taylor, 436 U.S. at 492 (Stevens, J., 

dissenting)). This Court should grant review and hold that the failure to 

give a "no-adverse-inference" instruction is a structural error that warrants 

reversal of the conviction. 
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2. In the alternative, the Court should review the Court of 
Appeals holding which applied an incorrect standard to 
Engelstad's ineffective assistance of counsel challenge to his 
lawyer's failure to request the instruction. 

Defense counsel inexplicably did not ask the court to instruct the 

jury that they could not draw an adverse inference from Engelstad's 

failure to testify, and Division Three, with minimal analysis, held that 

counsel's omission was not deficient performance. Slip Op. at 6. The 

Court erred by failing to consider counsel's omission in light of the facts 

of the case. Specifically, the Court presumed that in the abstract, a 

reasonably prudent defense attorney might choose not to request a no-

adverse-inference instruction without falling below standards of 

professional competence, 5 but failed to evaluate whether here, such a 

decision would have been reasonable. It was not, and there is a reasonable 

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional omission, the outcome 

would have been different. This Court should grant review. 

There are few if any situations where an attorney's decision can 

invariably be written off as a matter of reasonable trial strategy, and so per 

se withstand a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Rather, 

ineffective assistance of counsel claims, even when raised on direct 

appeal, are considered under the facts of the given case. State v. Thomas, 

5 For purposes of this alternative argument, Engelstad assumes but does not 
concede that this proposition is true. 
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109 Wn.2d 222,226,743 P.2d 816 (1987) (requiring a showing that 

"counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness based on consideration of all of the circumstances") 

(emphasis added); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 

2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (standard of review requires court "to 

reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to 

evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time"). Following a 

proper application of this test, Washington courts have found ineffective 

assistance even where the record is silent as to the reasons for counsel's 

omissions. See~ Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 228 (finding defense counsel's 

performance deficient because counsel did not request voluntary 

intoxication instruction) State v. Powell, 150 Wn. App. 139, 155, 206 P.3d 

703 (2009) (finding defense counsel's performance was deficient where he 

did not request the jury be instructed on "reasonable belief' defense to 

rape in the second degree). 

Division Three wholly failed to assess counsel's performance in 

light of the facts of the case. Indeed, the Court's opinion evinces little 

consideration for the facts. The Court's extremely terse factual recitation 

states only: 

The charges were filed after Mr. Engelstad and two others 
were caught dismantling a 1957 Federal Crane at the Big 
Foot mining claim; they did not own the crane or the 
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mining claim. The men intended to recycle the crane as 
scrap. Mr. Engelstad alone proceeded to jury trial in the 
Kittitas County Superior Court after the co-defendants 
resolved their cases. 

Mr. Engelstad, who has an extensive felony criminal 
history, did not testify. His counsel did not seek, and the 
trial court did not give, an instruction telling the jury it 
should draw no adverse inference from Mr. Engelstad's 
decision not to testify. 

The jury convicted Mr. Engelstad as charged. After the 
court imposed a standard range sentence, he timely 
appealed to this court. 

Slip Op. at 1-2. 

The Court's discussion does not reference or acknowledge the fact 

that the State's case against the other two men who were prosecuted was 

far stronger than the State's case against Mr. Engelstad. See Br. App. at 4-

5. In fact, Shouse, the principal in the case, testified that Engelstad "did 

nothing wrong," and Erickson, the other co-defendant, testified that he 

was unaware whether Engelstad knew or should have known that the 

crane belonged to Bradshaw. RP 188. Finally, although Bradshaw was 

personally acquainted with Erickson and Shouse and believed they knew 

he owned the crane, Bradshaw was not acquainted with Engelstad and had 

"no inkling" whether Engelstad would have known about Bradshaw's 

ownership ofthe crane. RP 130-32, 145. 
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Engelstad did not testify in his defense, and, as noted, the State 

emphasized what Engelstad should have known, should have said, and 

should have done to assure that Shouse had a right to dismantle the crane. 

Given this focus and the circumstantial nature of the evidence, a jury 

would surely believe that Engelstad's failure to testify in his defense 

meant that he knew Shouse's conduct was illegal, absent an instruction 

telling them such an inference is forbidden. 

It has been almost universally thought that juries notice a 
defendant's failure to testify. [T]he jury will, of course, 
realize this quite evident fact, even though the choice goes 
unmentioned .... [It is] a fact inescapably impressed on the 
jury's consciousness ... The layman's natural first 
suggestion would probably be that the resort to privilege in 
each instance is a clear confession of crime. 

Carter, 450 U.S. at 301 n. 18. 

Under the circumstances of the case, any reasonably prudent 

defense attorney would have been aware that the State's theory depended 

on convincing the jury that Engelstad should have known the crane 

belonged to Bradshaw. In such factual scenarios, it is critical that the jury 

be instructed not to draw an adverse inference from the defendant's 

exercise of his right to silence, particularly since juries are apt to remark 

upon and assume guilt from a defendant's silence.6 

6 Engelstad believes the notion that juries will somehow draw an adverse 
inference from a no-adverse-inference instruction is nonsensical, and that the Court's 
decision on this point is contrary to Carter. "Juries are presumed to have followed the 
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In sum, review is warranted of the appellate court's misapplication 

of the ineffective-assistance-of-counsel standard. This Court should grant 

review and conclude that no reasonable trial strategy could excuse 

counsel's failure to request a no-adverse-inference instruction. 

E. CONCLUSION 

Review is warranted of the important constitutional issue whether 

a no-adverse-inference instruction is required, and whether counsel's 

failure to request such an instruction under the facts of this case violated 

Mr. Engelstad's right to the effective assistance of counsel.