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

inferences of guilt from the lack of testimony by a defendant is error); and 

Lakeside v. Oregon, 435 U.S. 333, 98 S.Ct. 1091, 55 L.Ed.2d 319 (1978) 

(A judge's instruction, over defendant's objection, not to draw adverse 

inferences does not rise to the level of constitutional error). 

While the Carter Court used strong and forceful language about the 

importance of the right against self-incrimination, and the importance of 

"no-adverse-inference" instructions, the actual holding was limited to a 

holding that not giving such an instruction when requested violates a 

defendant's constitutional rights. Carter at 305. 

The Court in Carter did not require a sua sponte giving of a 'no-

adverse-inference instruction. Similarly, the Court in Lakeside did not 

require a trial court to sua sponte give a "no-adverse-inference instruction, 

further holding that it would be wise for a trial judge not to give such 

a cautionary instruction over a defendant's objection. Lakeside at 

341. 

A review of state and federal cases demonstrate that the holding in 

Carter is still the rule on "no-adverse-inference" instructions and no court 

has required a trial court to sua sponte give a Carter instruction. 

Hunter v. Clark, 906 F.2d 302, (1990) (Co-defendant case where 
one defendant wanted a Carter instruction and one defendant did 
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not want such an instruction. The defendant who wanted the 
instruction refused to sever the trial, and the trial court chose not to 
instruct the jury with a Carter instruction. No error was found 
given that defendant was given a timely option to solve the 
problem, but ifthere was an error, it was harmless; 

United States v. Brand, 80 F.3d 560 (1st Cir. 1996) (Follows 
Carter, instruction must be given if requested); 

United States v. Soto, 519 F.3d 927, (9th Cir. 2008) (Follows 
Carter, instruction must be given if requested);_ 

United States v. Whitten, 610 F .3d 168 (1st Cir. 201 0) (Follows 
Carter, instruction must be given if requested); 

United States v. Padilla, 639 F .3d 892 (9th Cir. 2011) (Follows 
Carter, instruction must be given if requested); and 

State v. Dauenhauer, 103 Wn. App. 373, 12P.3d 661 (2000) (Cites 
Carter with approval, but similar to Lakeside, did not find error 
when the Court sua sponte gave a Carter instruction. The 
difference here, versus the Lakeside case, was the Carter 
instruction was not requested, but when told a Carter instruction 
would be given, there was no objection). 

Petitioner's claim for adoption of a new rule does not meet the 

criteria for review found in RAP 13.4(b)(3) and review should be denied. 

There is no support for Petitioner's contention that a trial court should be 

required to provide a Carter instruction in every trial sua sponte. If, 

however, this Court should accept review, this Court should decline to 

adopt a new rule that is at odds with all other federal and state case law 

previously rendered on this topic. 
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b. Requested New Standard of Review: 

Petitioner also requests this Court to declare that a failure by the 

trial Court to give a Carter instruction is a structural error that always 

impacts the fairness of a trial, rebuking the current and long-standing 

constitutional harmless error test which requires a defendant to 

demonstrate that an error has occurred, and that the error resulted in 

prejudice to the defendant such that it cannot be said that the defendant 

received a fair trial. 

This Court need not reach this issue unless it determines that the 

law should change and that trial courts should be required to sua sponte 

give a Carter instruction. Again, Petitioner relies upon the language of 

Carter in support of requesting this change to the existing state of the law, 

specifically: 

"Thus, the failure to instruct on the privilege is not simply a 
technical error which does not affect substantial rights. Id. At 300 
(citation omitted). Rather, the right to an instruction on the 
privilege reflects 'the absolute constitutional guarantee against 
compulsory self-incrimination.' Id." 

Brief of Petitioner at 8. 

The petitioner further cited Carter: 

"In Carter, the Supreme Court noted that 'it is arguable that a 
refusal to give an instruction similar to the one that was requested 
here can never be harmless.' 450 U.S. at 304. The Court, however, 
expressly declined to reach the issue because it had not been 
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presented to the Kentucky courts.(with reference to footnote 4 to 
be addressed momentarily)" 

Brief of Petitioner at 9. 

Despite this language, the Court in Carter did not impose a 

heightened degree of scrutiny, nor did the dissent and three concurring 

Justices desire such a strong statement. It is also clear that no other 

federal or Washington State case having addressed this issue has applied 

anything other than a constitutional harmless error standard, as 

acknowledged by Petitioner in his brief under footnote 4 on page 9. In 

fact such a request was rejected in United States v. Soto, 519 F.3d 927 (91
h 

Cir. 2008) and United States v. Brand,80 F.3d 560, 567 (1996) U.S. App. 

Petitioner's claim for a new standard does not meet the criteria for 

review found in RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) and review should 

be denied. If, however, this Court should accept review, this Court should 

decline to adopt a new rule that is at odds with all other federal and state 

case law previously rendered on this topic. 

2. The "failure" of defense counsel to request a "no-
adverse-inference" instruction is not per se ineffective 
assistance of counsel. The fact that petitioner desires this court 
to formulate a new rule contrary to all former state and federal 
case holdings does not meet the criteria for review found in 
RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

Petitioner does not and cannot cite to any precedence to support a 
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rule declaring that the failure to request a Carter instruction is, or should 

be, per se ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeals 

determined that the decision not to seek a Carter instruction in this case, 

much like the decision not to testify, was a tactical decision. This was not 

a statement made in the abstract, rather it was a statement grounded in 

common experience and established case law. Two of Washington's 

appellate courts have opined that the decision to seek a "no-adverse

inference" instruction is a tactical one for defense counsel to make. State v. 

Dauenhauer, 103 Wn.App. 373, 376 12 P.3d 661 (2000); and State v. 

King, 24 Wn. App. 495, 500, 601 P.2d 982 (1979) (Failure to propose an 

instruction similar to WPIC 6.3 1 on the failure of the defendant to testify 

can hardly be regarded as evidence of incompetent counsel). 

The Court of Appeals, on review of this case, and other courts have 

indicated that while many defense counsel seek a Carter instruction when 

appropriate, not all do so, and many who decline such instructions do so 

for the tactical reason of not highlighting the defendant's decision to not 

testify. The courts have also suggested that there are many reasons why 

the defense might prefer to have the jury focus on the State and its burden 

of proof rather than being reminded that the defendant did not testify. 

In Lakeside, the Court referred to the defendant's objection to the 

giving of a "no-adverse-inference" instruction as assuredly being based 
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upon studious avoidance of any mention of the fact that the defendant had 

not testified. Lakeside v. Oregon,435 U.S. 333, 341,98 S. Ct. 1091, 1093, 

55 L. Ed. 2d 319, 322-323,1978. The Court in Hunter v. Clark, 906 F.2d 

302, (1990) did not have an issue concerning ineffective assistance of 

counsel, where two defendants, after being tried together with the same 

evidence, took divergent paths based upon the same evidence, one 

requesting a Carter instruction, and one objecting to a Carter instruction. 

Petitioner has cited two cases to support his argument, but neither 

held that the failure to request a Carter instruction was/is per se ineffective 

assistance of counsel. The fact that Petitioner desires this court to 

formulate a new rule contrary to all former state and federal case holdings 

does not meet the criteria for review found in RAP 13 .4(b )(3) and RAP 

13.4(b)( 4). Should this Court accept review, it should decline Petitioner's 

request to create such a per se rule. 

3. The Court of Appeals decision, as to petitioner's claim 
of ineffective assistance of counsel premised upon a failure to 
request a "no-adverse-inference" instruction did apply the 
correct law to the relevant facts found within the record. 
Petitioner's decision not to request a "no-adverse-inference" 
instruction was a tactical decision which does not give rise to a 
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. 

The law concerning the test for ineffective assistance of counsel is 

well settled. To establish that counsel was ineffective, a defendant must 
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show that counsel's conduct was deficient and that the deficient 

performance resulted in prejudice. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-

26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (adopting test in Strickland v. Washington, 466 

U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). To show deficient 

representation, the defendant must show that it fell below an objective 

standard of reasonableness based on all the circumstances. State v. 

Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 8, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007). The defendant must 

overcome a strong presumption that counsel's performance was not 

deficient. In evaluating ineffectiveness claims, courts must be highly 

deferential to counsel's decisions. A strategic or tactical decision is not a 

basis for finding error. Stricklandv. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,689-691, 

104 S. Ct. 2052,80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). If either part ofthe test is not 

satisfied, the inquiry need go no further. State v. Foster, 140 Wn. App. 

266, 273, 166 P.3d 726 (2007); State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 470, 901 

P.2d 286 (1995). 

Petitioner claims that defense counsel at trial inexplicably did not 

request a Carter instruction. The cases cited by both parties all indicate 

that there are many reasons why counsel might choose not to have the jury 

instructed in such fashion. As noted above, such reasoning has led two 

courts in Washington to conclude that such a decision is a tactical decision 

for counsel to make. See, State v. Dauenhauer; State v. King, infra. 
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It can be presumed that the Court of Appeals read the verbatim 

report of proceedings as they deliberated on a decision. A reading of the 

transcript of testimony would leave a reader with the distinct impression 

of the strategy of defense counsel: 

1. A void putting your client on the stand so that he cannot be 
impeached with his criminal history; 

2. Enter into a stipulation that removes from the jury any 
information concerning past criminal history; 

3. Discredit or show gaps in testimony of the state's 
witnesses; 

4. Use the state's witnesses against the state to bolster the 
claim that Petitioner did nothing wrong as he had no 
information that would have led him to believe that the 
crane was not Mr. Shouse's; and 

5. Do not request WPIC 6.31 so as not to draw attention to the 
fact that Petitioner did not testify, because from a defense 
perspective this case is about the state charging Petitioner 
with a crime when there is no evidence that what he did 
was wrong. 

Petitioner's tactical decisions were clear during the questioning of 

witnesses, attempting to plant the seed that the crane in question was Mr. 

Shouse's, but that if the jury doubted that, the evidence still showed that 

Petitioner relied upon Mr. Shouse telling him that it was his crane and that 

there were good reasons for the Petitioner to believe that to be true. The 

line of questioning carried through to closing arguments. Petitioner built 

upon the theme with each witness pushing the fact that the only reason 

they believed Bradshaw owned the crane was because Bradshaw told them 

so. Contrary to Petitioner's claim, the record is not silent as to the strategy 
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of trial counsel. 

Petitioner's reliance on two cases involving determining counsel's 

effectiveness based upon a silent record is misplaced. Neither case dealt 

with a failure to request WPIC 6.31. In both State v. Powell, 150 Wn. 

App. 139, 206 P.3d 703 (2009), and State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 

P .2d 816 ( 198 7) the courts were faced with trying to understand what if 

any logic existed in the failure to request a proper instruction that was 

crucial to presenting a statutory defense. In this case, we are not talking 

about a statutory defense not being presented by an instruction. The 

claimed error in this case is a decision concerning a trial tactic that has 

been recognized time and again as a legitimate course of action to take by 

trial counsel. 

Petitioner also asserts that the lack of a colloquy between trial 

counsel and the court on the record is a clear sign that the failure to 

request such an instruction was not tactical, but rather ineffective 

assistance of counsel. The lack of a requirement for such a discussion 

between the trial court and a defendant is clearly established. 

United States v. Soto, 519 F.3d 927, 930, (9th Cir. 2008) (Carter 
instruction not required in every criminal trial- merely 
available if requested); 

State v. Thomas, 128 Wn.2d 553, 557, 910 P.2d 475 (1996) 
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(colloquy not necessary for a valid waiver of the right to 
testify). The Thomas court cited a multitude of federal and 
state court decisions that had held that no such discussion 
between the trial court and defendant was required. Id. at 
558-559; 

State v. Russ, 93 Wn. App. 241, 246-247, 969 P.2d 106, (Div. I, 
1998), (such a colloquy might be unduly influential, 
problematic in terms of timing, and that unknown tactical 
reasons might exist making it inappropriate) . 

Finally, this Court has recently reached a similar decision as it 

relates to a valid stipulation by a defendant to an element of a charged 

crime (prior conviction of a "serious offense") and secondly whether 

defense counsel's failure to request a limiting instruction as to the 

stipulation was ineffective. State v. Humphries, En Bane 88234-7 

(October 2014). This Court held that a colloquy on the record was not 

necessary and re-affirmed the presumption that an omission to request a 

limiting instruction regarding a prior conviction is a tactical decision and 

not ineffective assistance of counsel. 

Petitioner's claim that the Court of Appeals incorrectly applied the 

correct rule of law to the review of this case is not supported. That 

reviewing court was justified in according trial counsel the presumption of 

effectiveness and a high degree of deference concerning the skills of trial 

counsel. Presuming that the omission of the instruction was a sound trial 

tactic, not presuming ineffective assistance of counsel, was also supported 
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by case law and common experience. The fact that Petitioner felt the 

decision did not fully explore the facts of the case does not meet the 

criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, 

if this Court should accept review, this Court should rule in accordance 

with all prior cases and determine that the omission of WPIC 6.31 was a 

trail tactic not giving rise to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. 

E. CONCLUSION: 

All that is required of the State is to provide a defendant with a fair 

trial. Mr. Engelstad had a fair trial. Mr. Engelstad's counsel presented a 

solid case, asking proper questions, eliciting necessary information, 

requesting proper instructions, conceding points that needed to be 

conceded, and otherwise providing competent assistance of counsel 

The Petitioner has not met his burden in demonstrating that this 

case meets the criteria for review under any prong of RAP 13.4. However, 

if this Court should determine that review is merited, the Court should 

decline the invitation by the Petitioner to create new rules for criminal 

trials in the state of Washington that are unsupported by any federal or 

state cases previously decided on this issue. 

This Court should not create a new rule requiring a trial court to 

sua sponte provide a Carter instruction in every trial regardless of the 
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wishes of trial counsel. This Court should not create a new mle that the 

failure to request a Carter instmction, is per se ineffective assistance of 

counsel. This Court should find that the decision not to request a Carter 

instmction was a sound trial tactic by counsel based upon the record 

herein and that the Comi of Appeals applied the con·ect rules of law in 

reaching the decision that such tactic was not ineffective assistance of 

counseL 

Finally, should this Court find that the omission of a Carter 

instmction was in fact error, this Court should not entertain a new mle 

finding such omission to be a stmctural error. Rather, this Court should 

maintain the constitutional harmless error standard and upon review of the 

record, determine that even if there was error, it was harmless.